2008

Kenneth L. Failor, Premium Plastics, Inc., Mary Gilmer v. Megadyne Medical Products, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION BELOW

Issue 1: Whether the district court erred in granting Defendant’s Motion to Strike Jury Demand, effectively dismissing all of the Premium Plaintiffs legal claims and denying the Premium Plaintiffs’ right to a jury trial, all of which is contrary to Rule 53 (e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Art. 1 Section 10 of the Utah Constitution.

Standard of Review: The district court’s denial of the Premium Plaintiffs’ right to a jury trial on the basis that this is only an equitable accounting case is a legal conclusion which is reviewed for correctness. *See OLP, LLC v. Burningham*, 2008 UT App 173 ¶ 11.

Preservation of Issue in District Court: The Premium Plaintiffs preserved this issue below in:

Their Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Strike Jury Demand and for Judgment on the Special Master’s Final Report (R. 2374-76);

Their Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Strike the Jury Demand and for Judgment on the Master’s Report (R. 6324-26; 6330-37); and

Oral argument at hearing on March 6, 2008 (R. 6716).

Issue 2: Whether the district court erred in denying the Premium Plaintiffs’

Objections to the Master’s Ex Parte Process and Final Report?

Standard of Review: The district court’s rejection of the Premium Plaintiffs objections to the report of the Special Master under Rule 53 is the interpretation of a rule of civil procedure which is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *See Plumb v. State*, 809 P.2d 734, 741 (Utah 1990), *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, ¶ 9, 141 P.3d 629.

Preservation of Issue in District Court: the Premium Plaintiffs preserved this issue below in:

Their Objections to the Final Report of the Special Master (R. 840-1109);

Their Supplemental Memorandum Re: Objections to the Master’s Report (R. 6330-37); and

Oral argument at hearing on March 6, 2008 (R. 6716).

Issue 3: Whether the district court erred in denying the Premium Plaintiffs’ Motion to File an Amended Complaint?

Standard of Review: The district court’s denial of the Premium Plaintiffs request to file an amended complaint is subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *See Fishbaugh v. Utah Power & Light*, 969 P.2d 403, 405 (Utah 1998) (citing *Kasco Servs. Corp. v. Benson*, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992)).

Preservation of Issue in District Court: The Premium Plaintiffs preserved this issue below in:

Their Motion for Leave to File an Amended Consolidated Complaint (R.6527-6585);

Their Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion for Leave to File an Amended Consolidated Complaint (R 6678-87), and

Oral argument at hearing on March 6, 2008 (R 6716)

II.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

The determinative Constitutional provisions, rules and statutes are as follows

United States Constitution, 7th Amend.

In [s]uits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved ”

Utah Constitution, Art. I Sec. 10.

In capital cases the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate In court so general jurisdiction, except in capital cases, a jury shall consist of eight jurors In courts of inferior jurisdiction a jury shall consist of four jurors In criminal cases the verdict shall be unanimous In civil cases three-fourths of the jurors may find a verdict A jury in a civil case shall be waived unless demanded

Utah Code Ann. § 78-21-1. Right to jury trial.

In actions for the recovery of specific real or personal property, with or without money damages, or for money claimed as due upon contract or as damages for breach of contract, or for injuries, an issue of fact may be tried by a jury, unless a jury is waived or a reference is ordered

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 15. Amended and Supplemental Pleadings

A party may amend his pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action not been placed upon the trial calendar, he may so amend it any time within 20 days after it is served Otherwise a party may his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party, and leave shall be freely given where justice so requires

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 38. Jury trial of right.

- (a) *Right preserved.* The right of trial by jury as declared by The constitution or as given by statute shall be preserved to the parties.
- (b) *Demand.* Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by paying the statutory fee and serving upon the other parties a demand therefor in writing at any time after the commencement of the action and not later than 10 days after the service of the last pleading directed to such issue. Such demand may be endorsed upon a pleading of the party.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53(c):

The order of reference to the may specify or limit his powers and may direct him to report only upon particular issues or to do or perform particular acts or to receive and report evidence only and may fix the time and place for beginning and closing the hearings and for the filing of the master's report.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53 (c)(3):

In jury actions. In an action to be tried by a jury the master shall not be directed to report the evidence. His finding upon the issues submitted to him are admissible as evidence of the matters found and may be read to the jury, subject to the ruling of the court upon any objections in point of law which may be made to the report.

III

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition Below

This is a breach of royalty contract dispute.¹ Under the contracts at issue, MegaDyne is required to pay plaintiffs Mr. Failor, Mr. Harvey Van Epps Gilmer² and Premium Plastics,

¹ This is a consolidated case. The first case asked for damages and royalties earned up until July 31, 1998. The second case was for damages and royalties earned after July 31, 1998. The two cases were consolidated on August 19, 2003. (R. 3363-3365, 3367-3371, and 3480-3482). Only in the first case was a Master appointed and only the first case is the subject of the Interlocutory Order, appealed by the Premium Plaintiffs.

Inc. and its owner Harvey Van Epps Gilmer (collectively referred to herein as “the Premium Plaintiffs”) \$0.05 and \$0.06 as royalties for surgical tips and balls coated by MegaDyne with a Teflon-like substance. In its Complaint and Jury Demand, the Premium Plaintiffs asserted five claims: (1) breach of contract; (2) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) unjust enrichment; (4) accounting; and (5) intentional and negligent misrepresentation and non-disclosure. (R. 1-43).

After the Premium Plaintiffs filed the Complaint, the parties moved and obtained the appointment of a Special Master. (R. 72-83). The Order of Reference required the Master to prepare a report of his findings regarding the amount of MegaDyne’s product coated and the amount of MegaDyne’s product sold under the agreements between the parties. (R. 86 ¶ 4) Ex parte communications were strictly forbidden (R. 86-87, ¶ 5).

Nevertheless, the Master used an ex parte process to gather and analyze MegaDyne’s documents. Also, the Master’s report exceeded the Order of Reference by calculating what the Master believed to be an overpayment of royalties. Objections to the Master ex parte process, his failure to abide by the Order of Reference and his internally inconsistent report were filed the Premium Plaintiffs. (R. 6330-6337, 2143-2185, and 846-1109)

Meanwhile, the Premium Plaintiffs successfully subpoenaed documents from third party suppliers which showed that the Premium Plaintiffs were underpaid and that MegaDyne had been successful in obtaining a patent infringement judgment based on a per unit coated basis.

² Mr. Gilmer, the owner of Premium Plastics, Inc., died during the proceedings below. Consequently, his wife and trustee of Mr. Gilmer’s Trust was substituted as a party plaintiff.

Thereafter MegaDyne moved to strike the Premium Plaintiffs' jury demand and the Premium Plaintiffs moved to amend the Complaint. (R. 4635-4637, 6527-6585). The trial court denied the Premium Plaintiffs' objections to the Master's report, and their motion to amend the complaint. The Court granted MegaDyne's motion to strike the jury demand. (R. 6702-6705)

The Premium Plaintiffs subsequently petitioned for permission to appeal the interlocutory order of the trial court. Permission was granted on June 27, 2008. (R. 6712).

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Background of Parties' Relationship Giving Rise to Litigation

1. MegaDyne was initially incorporated April 17, 1985 as American Medical Products, Inc.³

2. In 1987, Dr. Marsden Blanch, a founder of MegaDyne, filed his first application with the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO") as the purported inventor of an electrosurgical knife utilizing a two-step PTFE coating process. Dr. Blanch's first application, filed on February 24, 1987, was issued as Patent No. 4,785,807 (the "'807" patent) in 1988. On March 19, 1987, Dr. Blanch assigned his rights in the technology and products to MegaDyne. On November 2, 1987, the USPTO recorded the transfer of Mr. Blanch's interests in the '807 patent to MegaDyne. (R. 6531).

3. In February 1986, Mr. Failor began discussions with Harvey Van Epps Gilmer ("Mr. Gilmer"), a California chemical engineer and expert in plastic coatings. In June 1986, Mr. Gilmer and his company Premium Plastics Inc. ("PPI") began to work on developing,

³ American Medical Products, Inc.'s name was changed to MegaDyne Medical Products, Inc. on February 22, 1989. The company is hereinafter referred to as "MegaDyne."

perfecting and applying the nonstick coating on electrosurgical blades for MegaDyne. (R. 6531-32).

4. Subsequently, Mr. Failor developed the prototype two-step coating process for applying the PTFE to medical instruments. In 1986, Mr. Failor engaged Mr. Gilmer to begin large-scale production of the medical instruments. By January 1987, Mr. Failor had developed a protocol for processing MegaDyne's coated units for mass market production. (R. 6531-32).

5. Mr. Gilmer and PPI developed trade secrets consisting of a manufacturing process for coating medical instruments with PTFE, including the detailed, sequential steps involved, selecting products in connection with the process and improving on the coating technology described in and covered by MegaDyne's '807 patent. (R. 6532).

6. On August 10, 1987, Dr. Blanch filed a division of the original '807 patent. That application issued as Patent No. 4,876,110 on October 24, 1989. (R. 6532).

7. In April of 1988, after Dr. Blanch's second patent filing, Mr. Failor entered into a compensation agreement in which Mr. Failor was responsible for providing certain services to MegaDyne in exchange for compensation. (R. 6532). The compensation agreement provided that Mr. Failor would be paid based upon number of units of specified products that were actually sold to and paid for by customers based on the following schedule:

<u>Agreement Year</u>	<u>Time Period</u>	<u>Compensation Per Unit</u>
Year 1-3	April 20, 1988- April 19, 191	\$.08
Year 4	April 20, 1991 – April 19, 1992	\$.07

Year 5	April 20, 1992 – April 19, 1993	\$.06
Year 6	April 20, 1993 – April 19, 1997	\$.05

(R. 6444). A copy of the Agreement is attached in the addendum.

8. Under a June 1, 1988 Exclusive Product Coating Agreement, PPI and Mr. Gilmer agreed to and did provide MegaDyne with trade secrets developed in connection with the coating process and cooperated with MegaDyne in perfecting the application for MegaDyne’s products. A copy of the Agreement is attached in the addendum. PPI and Mr. Gilmer retained as their own proprietary trade secrets, certain refinements and technologies developed on MegaDyne’s behalf. (R. 6532).

9. On or about March 26, 1991, PPI and Mr. Gilmer entered into an “Agreement” (the “1991 Contract”) with MegaDyne whereby PPI agreed to continue to provide coating services to MegaDyne upon the terms and conditions of the 1988 Contract. (R. 6533). A copy of the 1991 Contract is attached in the addendum.

10. The parties further agreed under the 1991 Contract that MegaDyne would pay Mr. Gilmer six cents (\$.06) per product coated by MegaDyne or its designee, that Mr. Gilmer would provide to MegaDyne the trade secret knowledge, expertise, formula and methods of application and processing “learned by Mr. Gilmer and PPI”, to enable MegaDyne to coat certain of MegaDyne’s medical products. (R. 6533).

11. Also under the 1991 Contract, MegaDyne agreed to provide to PPI and Mr. Gilmer any and all records necessary to perform an audit to ensure MegaDyne’s payment compliance. The 1991 Contract further provides that, in the event an audit discloses a

variance of greater than five percent (5%) between what was paid and what was due to Mr. Mr. Gilmer, the cost of the audit would be borne by MegaDyne. (R. 6533).

12. The 1991 Contract was modified by a “Contract Modification” (the “1991 Modification”), which was signed shortly after execution of the 1991 Contract. Pursuant to the 1991 Modification, MegaDyne agreed to require present and future suppliers of metal cautery tips and laparoscopic devices to provide copies of all invoices to Mr. Gilmer. (R. 6533). A copy of the 1991 Modification is attached in the addendum

13. The 1991 Contract was further modified by a “Contract Modification” dated September 15, 1997 (the “1997 Modification”) whereby MegaDyne agreed to pay PPI six cents (\$.06) for each product coated by MegaDyne through September 30, 1997. (R. 6534).

14. MegaDyne also agreed that beginning October 1, 1997, and continuing until December 1, 2005, MegaDyne would pay to PPI six cents (\$.06) for each coated Product invoiced or shipped to a third party for use or resale, including samples and consignments, and agreed that returns and bad debts would not be debited against payments due to PPI. MegaDyne further agreed that it would make payments due to PPI on a monthly basis, with payments to be made within a month and ten days after the end of each month and that it would accompany each monthly payment with a computer printout reporting all coated Electrodes invoiced and/or shipped during the month with consecutive invoice numbers, date, total Electrodes on each invoice and applicable lot numbers. (R. 6534).

15. The cooperative relationship between the parties began to crumble after MegaDyne took the coating process in-house and began paying royalties to the Premium Plaintiffs. After receiving an average monthly payment of \$22,642 in royalties in 1996, PPI’s

royalties reached a high point of \$43,490 in March 1997, followed by an unexplained steep decline, as follows.

Feb-97	\$28,687
Mar-97	\$43,490
Apr-97	\$27,820
May-97	\$2,144
Jun-97	\$4,194
Jul-97	\$7,758
Aug-97	\$8,334
Sep-97	\$11,375
Oct-97	0
Nov-97	\$851

(R 481, ex. 3 to the Special Master's Report)

16. The Premium Plaintiffs' efforts to resolve the disparities amicably were unsuccessful. The reports that MegaDyne provided with the royalty payments failed to support the payment amount made to Premium Plastics, Inc and Mr. Failor. MegaDyne's royalty reports did not include certain safeguards the contracts required to make the accounting more transparent, such as lot numbers and consecutive invoices. Also, as the years passed, the apparent growth of the company, evident in MegaDyne's expansion of facilities and personnel, was not reflected in the royalties that the Premium Plaintiffs received, which remained essentially flat over time. (R. 6535).

17. This case was initiated by the Premium Plaintiffs on or about July 31, 1998, after MegaDyne's federal lawsuit was dismissed pursuant to a Stipulation without Prejudice. The Premium Plaintiffs' Complaint and Jury Demand asserted legal claims for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and misrepresentation/non-disclosure. The Complaint included alternative equitable claims for unjust enrichment and for an accounting. (R. 1-43).

Appointment of Special Master and Adoption of Order of Reference

18. The parties agreed in January 1999 to the appointment of a Special Master under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53 to prepare a report on the amount of products coated and sold. (R. 72-79).

19. The Order of Reference, which specifically sets forth and limits the duties of the Special Master, provided that the Special Master act pursuant to the Order of Reference in determining the amount of products coated and sold. Specifically, the Order of Reference provides:

The issues relating to the amount of the Defendant's products coated and the Defendant's coated products sold under the Agreements are hereby referred to the Master.

(R. 84-90). Order of Reference ("Order") ¶3, a copy is attached hereto in the addendum.

20. The Order of Reference also provided:

- That the Master meet with parties to establish a work plan for the preparation of the Special Master's report and comply with certain deadlines in preparing and submitting his report to the trial court (Order at ¶ 6(a);
- That the Special Master not engage in any improper ex parte communications with the parties to the litigation (Order at ¶ 5);
- That the Special Master may conduct discovery and require the production of books, papers, documents, vouchers, etc. (Order at ¶ 5);
- That the Special Master submit his report to the trial court and to the parties along with copies of all evidence relied upon by the Master to support the findings in the report (Order at ¶ 6(d)).

Work Plan/ Deadlines

21. The Premium Plaintiffs submitted a proposed work plan to the Special Master but he neither accepted nor rejected the Premium Plaintiffs' proposed work plan. In fact, the Master refused to establish a work place of the preparation of his report. When the Premium Plaintiffs inquired about creating a work plan, the Master said that he would do those tasks as he "deemed necessary." (R. 1235).

22. The Master never did establish a plan with counsel for both parties before March 2, 1999 as required by the Order of Reference. Instead, as stated by the Master before Judge Thorne, "we did not want to disclose [a] work plan to the parties because that would be basically tipping our hand as to what areas we were going to examine." (R. 1235-36).

23. The Master failed to provide the court with a status report by the deadline in the Order of Reference and instead filed it 400 days later. (R. 1239).

24. The Master failed to complete his work by April 23, 2000, as ordered by the trial court, or submit a letter to the court indicating anything additional that needed to be done. Rather the Special Master never submitted a letter to the court, did not request an extension and did not file his draft report until June 16, 2000. (R. 430-645). His final report was later filed on August 2, 2000 (R. 803-833).

Improper Ex Parte Process

25. From the beginning of his work until the Master submitted his final report, the Master used an unfair ex parte process. MegaDyne's former accountant testified:

A: They came out early May, two people, I believe

* * *

A: They were there for weeks.

Q: Did you give them a room to work out of?

A: The conference room.
Q: Out at MegaDyne?
A: Yes

* * *

Q: About how often would you meet with the folks from Ernst and Young?

A: Well, I would only come to the office on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday.

* * *

Q: So you would go out there three times a week?

A: Most of the time, they would be there, there may be a day or two when they were not.

Q: Is that it?

A: Right

* * *

Q: Who else from MegaDyne, if you know, met with the folks at Ernst and Young besides you?

A: I know Brian did.

Q: Anybody else?

A: They asked Jeff Roberts to give them electronic information from time to time . . . I know that he had conversations with them about exactly what they needed and he gave them disks.

(R. 1237-38).

26. The Master admitted that he conducted his document investigation at MegaDyne, with MegaDyne, and on an ex parte basis:

Upon our arrival at MegaDyne, we were introduced to key accounting and manufacturing personnel, given a tour of the facilities, and shown to the conference room. The conference room contained approximately 10 to 15 boxes of sales invoices, general ledger detail for the period under inspection, receipts and invoices and other financial records. . . . We reviewed, inspected, analyzed and obtained support for and brief explanations of electronic and paper forms of documents that we deemed necessary to determine the number of products coated and sold under the invoices.

(R. 1238).

27. The Master also engaged in improper ex parte communications by asking that “MegaDyne prepare[] a schedule . . . that indicated the quantity received and the quantity coated” to determine the amount of products coated. The Master then spot checked with copies of invoices. (R. 1239).

Failure to Conduct Discovery

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