2008

Kenneth L. Failor, Premium Plastics, Inc., Mary Gilmer v. Megadyne Medical Products, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The District Court correctly struck Appellants' jury demand **for** the period of time covered by the Special Master's Report. In their initial Complaint, Appellants requested an accounting, and thereafter moved the District Court "for appointment of a national accounting firm to serve as a master in this action and receive reference of the issues relating to the amounts of products coated and coated **products** sold under **the parties'** agreements. . . . Thereafter, the Court will be able to easily determine the amount of compensation owed by Defendant to Plaintiffs." (R. 72-73 (emphasis added).)

MegaDyne consented to the appointment, and the **Special Master** did his work and reported that MegaDyne had, in fact, overpaid Appellants during the relevant time period.

During the course of the Special Master proceedings and thereafter, Appellants lodged numerous objections with the District Court regarding the procedure he employed. The District Court correctly exercised its discretion in overruling these procedural objections, including objections to alleged *ex parte* procedures employed by the Special Master, the **timeliness** of his report, his non-use of Requests for Production under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 34, etc.

Appellants also asserted objections to the substance of the Special Master's Report, which are repeated in Appellants' brief in a laundry list of bullet points at pages 15-19 (Statement of Fact Nos. 36 and 38.) These objections are based on statements

from Appellants' expert, without citation to any of the underlying documents on which his testimony is purportedly based, and on unsworn statements of counsel.

On March 6, 2008, in response to a Motion by MegaDyne, the District Court struck Appellants' jury demand. Although the order striking MegaDyne's jury demand appears on its face to apply to the entire case, MegaDyne only asked for the jury demand to be stricken with respect to the period of time covered by the Special Master's Report, and believes that the District Court's order striking the jury demand can only be affirmed with respect to that period of time.

The District Court also overruled Appellants' procedural objections to the Special Master's Report, which it had dealt with numerous times previously. However, in response to Appellants' objections and Motion for Evidentiary Hearing, the District Court ordered a hearing on Appellants' substantive objections to determine whether the Special Master's Report was "clearly erroneous" under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53.

Appellants' petitioned this Court for interlocutory review of the March 6, 2008 Order before the evidentiary hearing took place. As a result, there is an inadequate record to determine whether the Special Master's Report is clearly erroneous, and the District Court has not yet adopted the Special Master's Report. The issue of whether the substance of the Special Master's Report is clearly erroneous is therefore not ripe for review, and the issue should be remanded to the District Court so that the evidentiary hearing requested by Appellants can take place.

Finally, after 9-1/2 years of litigation, Appellants moved the District Court to file an Amended Complaint, dropping their equitable claim for an accounting and adding a

claim under the Utah Uniform Trade Secrets Act, claiming that Appellants should have received proceeds from patent litigation prosecuted by MegaDyne because Gilmer allegedly disclosed trade secret information during depositions in such litigation. The District Court did not abuse its discretion by determining that the proposed amendment was untimely, and the order should also be confirmed because the proposed amendment was futile and prejudicial to MegaDyne.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY STRUCK APPELLANTS' JURY DEMAND FOR THE PERIOD COVERED BY THE SPECIAL MASTER'S REPORT.

The District Court correctly struck Appellants' jury demand with respect to the period of time covered by the Special Master because Appellants alleged a claim for an accounting and stipulated to the "appointment of a national accounting firm to serve as a master in this action and receive reference of the issues relating to the amounts of products coated and coated products sold under the parties' agreements. . . . Thereafter, the Court will be able to easily determine the amount of compensation owed by Defendant to Plaintiffs." (R. 72-73 (emphasis added).) Appellants and MegaDyne stipulated to this procedure. (R. 72-73; 77-78.)

"An action for an accounting is usually a two-step process in which there must be a proceeding to determine the plaintiff's right to an accounting . . . before the accounting is ordered." 1A Corpus Juris Secundum, Accounting § 45. "After a judgment to account, a court may itself take the account The usual practice, however, is to refer the matter to a special master, referee or similar officer." *Id.*, § 47. "If no exception, or valid

exception, is taken, the findings of a referee or master regarding an account will stand.”

Id., § 51. “A final judgment in a suit for an accounting must follow the order for an accounting, and the accounting pursuant to that interlocutory order. . . . After the account has been taken and an amount found due from one party to another, a judgment for payment follows as a matter of course” *Id.*, § 53.

In this case, Appellants asserted a claim for an accounting in their Complaint and, citing the complexity of this case, immediately moved the Court for an interlocutory order appointing a master to determine the number of MegaDyne products coated and sold and, therefore, whether MegaDyne owed the Appellants money or vice versa. Although cite numerous cases stating that the pleading of equitable claims and the appointment of a special master normally do not deprive parties of their jury trial right, those cases are distinguishable. In this case, Appellants elected to pursue their equitable remedy first. Now, more than seven years after the Special Master filed his Final Report and after the parties have each spent tens of thousands of dollars for him to do his work, Appellants want to wish away the Special Master’s report and start from scratch.

None of the cases Appellants cite address a situation where, like here, Appellants have sought and obtained a Court-ordered accounting and stipulated that based on the master’s findings, “the Court will be able to easily determine the amount of compensation owed by Defendant to Plaintiffs” (R. 72-73), before pursuing their legal claims. Thus, in this case it was entirely appropriate for the District Court to strike Appellants’ jury demand for claims covering the period examined by the Special Master.

Furthermore, there are cases, like this one, where the accounts are so complex that only a court of equity can unravel them through an accounting. Although an equitable claim for accounting is generally not available when there is an adequate remedy at law, “an accounting may yet be appropriate where ‘the accounts between the parties are of such a complicated nature that only a court of equity can satisfactorily unravel them.’” *Haynes Trane Service Agency, Inc. v. American Standard, Inc.*, 51 F.App’x 786, 800 (10th Cir. 2002) (citation omitted) (reversing dismissal of accounting claim because over 3,000 transactions were at issue). This case involves tens of thousands of transactions and millions of individual units coated and sold, and Appellants’ themselves urged the Court to appoint a master because of the complexity of the contracts and transactions at issue in this case. Thus, the accounting ordered by the Court and relied upon to strike Appellants’ jury demand is even more appropriate here than it was in *Haynes*.

II. APPELLANTS’ ISSUE NO. 2 IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT HAS NOT RULED ON APPELLANTS’ SUBSTANTIVE OBJECTIONS TO THE MASTER’S REPORT.

A. Appellants’ Objections Regarding the Substance and Reliability of the Master’s Report Are Premature Because the District Court Has Not Ruled on Them.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53 sets forth the procedure once a Special Master has submitted a report on a non-jury issue, like the accounting to which the parties stipulated in this case. Rule 53 provides that

In an action to be tried without a jury the court *shall accept* the master’s findings of fact *unless clearly erroneous*. Within 10 days after being served with notice of the filing of the report any party may serve written objections thereto upon the other parties. Application to the court for action upon the report and upon objections thereto shall be by motion and

upon notice as prescribed in Rule 6(d). The court after hearing may adopt the report or may modify it or may reject it in whole or in part or may receive further evidence or may recommit it with instructions.

Utah R. Civ. P. 53(e)(2)(emphasis added).

Here, the District Court has not determined that it will adopt the report, modify it or reject it based on Appellants' objections to the substance of the report. In the Order from which this appeal is taken, the District Court ordered a hearing to determine whether the Special Master's findings were clearly erroneous "[b]ased on [Appellants'] allegations of error coupled with a report from the Plaintiff's expert." (R. 6703.) Thus, although Appellants' Issue No. 2 is "[w]hether the district court erred in denying the Premium Plaintiffs' Objections of the Master's . . . Final Report" (Appellants' Brief at 2), the District Court has not overruled those objections, but instead ordered the evidentiary hearing requested by Appellants to consider those objections.

As a result, Appellants' arguments regarding the reliability of the Special Master's Report and potential errors or inaccuracies in the report are premature because those issues are not ripe for review, even on an interlocutory appeal. For example, in *State v. Herrera*, 895 P.2d 359 (Utah 1995), the Utah Supreme Court refused to consider the constitutionality of Utah's mental illness standard on an interlocutory appeal, where neither defendant had been convicted of a crime or sentenced, stating that:

[t]his court will not issue advisory opinions or examine a controversy that has not yet sharpened into an actual or imminent clash of legal rights and obligations between the parties thereto. Where there exists no more than a difference of opinion regarding the hypothetical application of a piece of legislation to a situation in which the parties might, at some future time, find themselves, the question is unripe for adjudication.

Id. at 371; *see also* *Pett v. Autoliv ASP, Inc.*, 2005 UT 2, ¶ 4 (refusing to consider issue on interlocutory appeal on ripeness grounds because “any direction we may provide . . . would be little more than an advisory opinion and may ultimately prove to be irrelevant, or even flawed, after a final judgment has been rendered in this case.”).

Here, any ruling on Appellants’ substantive objections and arguments regarding the reliability of the Special Master’s Report would be similarly advisory. The District Court has not overruled Appellants’ substantive objections, but instead ordered an evidentiary hearing regarding them. (R. 6703.) As discussed in detail below, there is not even a sufficient factual record for the Court of Appeals to consider Appellants’ arguments. Appellants’ objections and arguments regarding the findings of the Special Master and the substance of his report are simply not ripe for adjudication.

**B. The District Court Correctly Rejected Appellants’
Procedural Objections to the Special Master’s Report.**

As detailed in the Statement of Facts, above, the District Court repeatedly overruled numerous objections by Appellants’ to the Special Master’s procedures. In each case, the District Court correctly found that the alleged procedural errors had either not occurred or were inconsequential. As detailed below, the Court of Appeals should defer to the District Court’s findings and uphold the portion of its Order overruling Appellants’ procedural objections. *See Plumb v. State of Utah*, 809 P.2d 734, 744 (Utah 1990).

1. The Special Master Had a Work Plan.

Appellants' first argue that the Special Master failed to create a work plan. The District Court rejected this argument on at least three separate occasions after full briefing. (*See* Vol. 2 of District Court Record, unnumbered May 23, 2000 Order, ¶ 1; R. 2434.)

In fact, the argument that the Special Master did not have a work plan is absurd. The work the Special Master did, including the review and examination of voluminous documents, the taking of testimony of relevant witnesses, etc., is plainly detailed in the Final Report of Special Master. The parties met with the Special Master on April 21, 1999, and discussed his proposed plan and methodology. (R. 6508.) He subsequently met with them again on June 2, 1999. (*Id.*) Before submitting his Final Report, the Special Master reported to the Court on numerous occasions regarding his progress and his plan, usually in response to criticisms from Appellants. (*See, e.g.,* Correspondence Regarding Work to be Completed and Estimated Time of Completion filed on May 23, 2000, R. 332-42.) Furthermore, the Special Master met and corresponded with both Appellants and MegaDyne regarding his plan and progress. (R. 6508.)

2. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Rejecting Appellants' Claims that the Special Master Failed to Comply with Deadlines.

The District Court's decisions regarding its own scheduling orders are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. "Trial courts have broad discretion in managing the cases before them Therefore, we review whether a trial court properly ruled on pretrial compliance with a scheduling order under an abuse of discretion standard."

Normandeau, v. Hanson Equip., Inc., 2007 UT App 382, ¶ 9 (citation omitted).

Appellant does not establish or argue that it was prejudiced by any delay by the Special Master or that any error by the District Court regarding enforcement of its scheduling orders was in any way harmful. The Court of Appeals should reject this argument, as well.

3. The Master Was Not Required to Formally Request Documents Under Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Although the Order of Reference permitted the Special Master to utilize subpoenas and/or Rule 34 document requests, it did not require him to do so. MegaDyne voluntarily supplied its documents and the Special Master had no need to utilize those procedures. As detailed in MegaDyne's initial Response to Plaintiffs' Objections to the Final Report of the Special Master, MegaDyne agreed at an April 21, 1999 meeting that employees of Ernst and Young would go to MegaDyne's headquarters and would be provided all documents they requested, with the exception of tax returns and financial statements. (R. 6434.) Appellants voiced no objection to voluntary disclosure and that is how the Special Master's work proceeded. Appellants identify no authority suggesting that the Special Master's Report should be rejected on this basis.

4. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Overruling Appellants' Unfounded Objection that the Special Master Engaged in Improper Ex Parte Contacts with MegaDyne.

The only communication between the Special Master and employees of MegaDyne involved requests by the Special Master for production of records. The Special Master informed the parties that it would conduct its examination on May 3,

1999, at MegaDyne's headquarters. Appellants made no request to attend (R. 6508-6510), but now wish to characterize the Special Master's work there as *ex parte*. This argument has been and should be rejected.

As demonstrated by the evidence cited by Appellants, the only challenged communications were between the Special Master and employees of MegaDyne involving requests by the Special Master for production of records. (Appellants' Brief at 12-14.) Appellants have already conducted discovery regarding these so-called *ex parte* contacts, including taking the sworn statement of JoAnn Hall, a MegaDyne employee assigned to assist with producing documents to the Special Master. Ms. Hall testified: "Q: Was the, was the conversations you had with the folks at Ernst & Young different than, 'JoAnn, can you find this document for us?' Was that the nature of it? A: That was what, that was what it was." (R. 6474, Sworn Statement JoAnn Hall at 176:2-5.)

Despite conducting discovery on the issue, Appellants have not established any *ex parte* contacts between the Special Master and MegaDyne's counsel or its officers. The District Court did not abuse its discretion by rejecting this objection, based on the nature of the challenged communications and the fact that Appellants were invited to participate in the document review at MegaDyne, but did not. The District Court's order overruling this objection should be affirmed.

5. The Special Master Did Not Exceed the Scope of the Order of Reference.

The District Court also did not err by overruling Appellants' objection that the Special Master's Report exceeded the scope of the Order of Reference. The Order of

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